# LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT OF FIRST-TIME LEADERS THROUGH COLLEGIATE ADVENTURE EDUCATION PROGRAMS

by

Kristin A. Coffey

A thesis submitted to the faculty of The University of North Carolina at Charlotte in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Psychological Science

Charlotte

2020

Approved by:

Dr. Linda Shanock

Dr. Alyssa McGonagle

Dr. Kim Buch

©2020 Kristin A. Coffey ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

# ABSTRACT

# KRISTIN A. COFFEY. Leadership development of first-time leaders through collegiate adventure education programs. (Under the direction of DR. LINDA SHANOCK)

This study examined the relation between level of experience as a collegiate adventure education student leader and leadership skills necessary for effective first-time managers in the workplace. One-hundred and thirty-three college students between the ages of 18 and 49 participated in this survey-based study. Participants were measured on four leadership skills: communication, leading team achievement, influence, and coaching and developing others. Analysis revealed no relation between two measures of experience and the four leadership skills, though there was a significant small negative relation between team building facilitation experience and the four leadership skills. Student leaders who facilitated more team building groups indicated lower levels of communication, leading team achievement, influence, and coaching and developing others. Given the importance of first-time managers to organizations and the mission of many colleges to develop transferable leadership skills in their students through leader development programs, more research is needed on skill development in collegiate leadership programs.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to recognize the invaluable assistance of Dr. Linda Shanock, my advisor and committee chair, who provided both professional and personal support throughout this process. I am also grateful for Drs. Alyssa McGonagle and Kim Buch who gave their time and expertise in serving on my committee. The feedback from the committee elevated this study and I thank them for their insights and guidance. I would also like to thank Dave Sperry, director of Venture Outdoor Leadership, for being a resource to me and to this study.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	vi
INTRODUCTION	
Brief Summary of the State of Leadership Theory	
Skill Gaps for First-Time Managers	
Development of Leadership Skills	
Leadership Development in Higher Education	9
The Present Study	
METHOD	
Participants and Procedure	
Measures	
RESULTS	
DISCUSSION	
Limitations	
Implications and Future Research	
Conclusion	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX: LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT SURVEY	

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1: Descriptive Statistics and Correlations for Study Variables of All Participants	44
TABLE 2: Descriptive Statistics and Correlations for Study Variables Adventure Education Leaders	45
TABLE 3: Descriptive Statistics and Correlations forStudy Variables of Adventure Education Program Participants	47
TABLE 4: Descriptive Statistics and Correlations for Study Variables of Non-Adventure Education Leaders	48
TABLE 5: Descriptive Statistics and t-Tests for Study Variablesof Adventure Education Leaders and Adventure Education Participants	49
TABLE 6: Descriptive Statistics and t-Tests for Study Variables of Adventure Education Leaders and Study Participants Who are Not Adventure Education Leaders	50

#### **INTRODUCTION**

First-time managers account for the largest group of leaders in organizations and, through their leadership, directly impact more people than any other leader in those organizations (Gentry, 2016). They have the complex task of managing the work they were responsible for before their promotion and of leading others and their teams to success (Gentry, 2016; Plakhotnik et al., 2011). However, the skills that led to an employee being promoted are not the same as those needed once they are a leader (Gentry et al., 2014; Plakhotnik et al., 2011).

First-time managers need to develop people management skills (Gentry, 2016) that will allow them to facilitate the development of their employees and their team (Brown, 2006; Plakhotnik et al., 2011). However, in one study, 60% of first-time managers reported receiving no training before transitioning into their first leadership role and 26% felt they were not ready to lead others (Gentry et al., 2014). Additionally, half of first-time managers are being deemed "failures" by both subordinates and supervisors (Arneson, 2005; Gentry, 2016; Gentry et al., 2014).

By not supporting first-time managers in their new roles, organizations have experienced loss of resources (Gentry, 2016; Plakhotnik et al., 2011), reduced productivity (Gentry, 2016), and damage to employee relationships (Gentry, 2016; Plakhotnik et al., 2011). When a first-time leader fails, there is significant cost to replace that person, including the costs of recruitment, hiring, and on-boarding (Plakhotnik et al., 2011). Somaya and Williamson (2008) reported the replacement cost for a position requiring unique skills to be between 100% and 150% of the associated salary. That cost

does not include the loss of human capital- the organizational knowledge and skills the departing employee takes with them (Somaya and Williamson, 2008).

Instead, by supporting first-time managers' success, organizations can capitalize on the benefits of developing future leaders and in retaining top talent, including through the competitive advantage of "knowledge creation and continuous learning" of individuals (Ellinger et al., 1999, p. 105). In a 2015 report by the Society for Human Resource Management (SHRM), both human resource (HR) professionals and non-HR C-suite executives reported the top challenge for the current and future states of their organizations was developing the next generation of organizational leaders. Second to developing future leaders was retaining high-performing employees (SHRM, 2015).

It is important to understand how to support first-time managers. Developing the skills that lead to being effective first-time managers can start as early as college through leadership development programs (Cress et al., 2001; Dugan, 2006; Zimmerman-Oster & Burkhardt, 1999), including adventure education programs.

While much research has examined the impact of adventure education programs on participants, little is known about the development of leadership skills for student leaders who facilitate these programs. Similar to the way a first-time manager is promoted for their technical skills and not their people-management skills, a college student who has demonstrated sought-after technical skills as a participant may be promoted to an adventure education leader because they performed well. However, the skills needed to be a manager of adventure education participants is quite different, involving leading others and ensuring team success.

Can leading adventure education programs in college help leaders develop leadership skills that will transfer to future leadership roles in post-college workplaces? The present study examined the potential for student leaders to develop leadership skills through collegiate adventure education programs.

#### **Brief Summary of the State of Leadership Theory**

Leadership is defined as "the ability to direct a group toward the attainment of goals." (Riggio, 2018, p. 386). This definition emphasizes the role of *effective* leaders and not just those assigned the position of leader (who may or may not be successful; Riggio, 2018). Theories of effective leadership have led from universalist theories in the early 1900s, such as the great man/woman theory (Riggio, 2018), to behavioral theories around the 1950s that focused on social behaviors (Lord et al., 2017; Riggio, 2018). The mid- to late-century brought increased research on the role of cognition in leadership, such as the role of stereotypes on behavioral ratings (Lord, et al, 2017) and contingency theories that focused on the impact of the situation on effective leadership (Riggio, 2018).

The current wave of leadership theories emphasizes relationships and trust, such as transformational leadership. Transformational leadership theory defines effective leaders as those who engage their follower's values and social identities (Lord et al., 2017). Transformational leaders inspire and influence followers, increasing work commitment, trust, job satisfaction, and performance through four dimensions: idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Judge & Piccolo, 2004). Idealized influence emphasizes the impact of leaders as role models and the extent to which followers identify with the leader (Judge & Piccolo, 2004). Inspirational motivation is the extent to which leaders inspire followers

with an articulated and appealing vision (Judge & Piccolo, 2004). Intellectual stimulation is the extent to which leaders encourage creativity by listening to their followers' ideas and questioning the status quo (Judge & Piccolo, 2004). Individual consideration is the extent to which leaders adjust their style of coaching and mentoring to both understand and meet the needs of each follower (Judge & Piccolo, 2004).

Merging leadership theory with the need to develop leaders in organizations can take many forms, including using transformational leadership theory, among other approaches, to teach leadership skills (Riggio, 2018). A 2018 meta-analysis supported the importance of several training components to effectively develop leadership and managerial skills, including: conducting a needs analysis to determine skill gaps; providing an opportunity for feedback; and using multiple delivery methods, including practice (Lacerenza et al, 2017). To create training that has significant impact on effective leadership of first-time managers, we must determine what skill gaps exist. Through the work of the Center for Creative Leadership, Gentry (2016) and Gentry et al. (2014) have identified four skill gaps of first-time managers.

## **Skill Gaps for First-Time Managers**

The challenges of first-time managers in terms of the skills they need to be successful can be categorized into four skill gaps (Gentry, 2016; Gentry et al., 2014). These gaps are communication, leading team achievement, influence, and coaching and developing others.

## **Communication**

First-time managers must effectively communicate to their employees through verbal and non-verbal means, by broadening their preferred communication styles to match their subordinates, and by being active listeners (Gentry, 2016). Communication skills directly impact other challenges that first-time managers face, including conflict management, working with diverse employees, and motivating others (Gentry et al., 2014). Mumford et al. (2007) also emphasized the importance of speaking "to effectively convey information" and active listening "to appropriately comprehend and question in order to achieve a complete understanding" (p.156).

Interpersonal communication competence (ICC) relates well to Gentry's (2016) communication skill gap for leaders. ICC is the perception of how well interpersonal relationships are managed in communication settings (Rubin & Martin, 1994). This definition emphasizes the relation between appropriate and effective behaviors as a means for achieving goals; communication is judged to be successful by those involved if the goals were achieved (Rubin & Martin, 1994). ICC is comprised of dimensions that, together, create a communicator that listens actively, thinks critically, is adaptable to the situation, and speaks clearly- all aspects of Gentry's (2016) communication skill gap. Also of note, ICC's dimensions are skills not traits (Rubin & Martin, 1994), emphasizing the ability for a first-time manager to train and grow in this area.

## Leading Team Achievement

First-time managers are responsible for leading their teams to success by encouraging a group of individuals to work together toward a common goal (Gentry, 2016). They must provide direction and alignment while garnering commitment from team members (Gentry, 2016). In addition to these skills, business and strategic skills are important for leading team achievement (Mumford et al., 2007). Managing human resources, such as developing and promoting "individuals in their work (p. 157)" and strategic skills, such as identifying and objectively analyzing problems and potential solutions, are important for effective leadership (Mumford et al., 2007). First-time managers not only have to focus on the tasks, but also on removing barriers to success, such as developing team cohesiveness and working with limited resources (Gentry et al., 2014).

The targeted goals of adventure education include those skills required for leading team achievement, such as expedition behavior and outdoor leadership (Sibthorp et al., 2007). Expedition behavior is small-group behavior that demonstrates responsibility to the group (e.g. taking ownership of one's tasks and mistakes) and supporting the group's goals (Sibthorp et al., 2007). Leadership in the context of adventure education is the ability to make decisions at critical moments, give and receive feedback, take initiative, and be aware of the needs of the group and the leader (Sibthorp et al., 2007). These two categories of goals, expedition behavior and leadership, define the ability of a leader to be a productive member of a group while also directing that group (Sibthorp et al., 2007)-similar to the balance successful first-time managers maintain between completing their own work and coordinating that of their team.

## Influence

First-time managers must motivate, engage, and persuade to ensure they have *personal* influence (Gentry, 2016) in addition to their newly instated *positional* influence. They must gauge how those around them are influenced and adapt their behavior accordingly using logic, personal connection, collaboration, and actions (Gentry, 2016). Additionally, social perceptiveness and negotiation are key to being able to influence others (Mumford's et al., 2007). Influencing others can help first-time managers learn to

delegate more and micromanage less- other common challenges of first-time managers (Gentry et al., 2014). They may be inclined to do the work themselves for efficiency or ease, but micromanaging may only harm overall team achievement.

Gentry's (2016) definition of influence is closely related to one of the four dimensions of transformational leadership: inspirational motivation (Reichard et al, 2011). Inspirational motivation is the ability to motivate and inspire by giving tasks meaning, fostering optimism, and inspiring followers through symbolic actions (Reichard, et al, 2011). The use of emotional impact, symbolism, meaning making, and fostering optimism is key to Gentry's (2016) definition of influence; effective leaders can use these tools to adjust their method of influence to maximize the impact on their followers.

#### **Coaching and Developing Others**

Now that first-time managers manage others, they have the additional responsibility of developing their followers (Gentry 2016). They must be able to provide critical feedback (Gentry, 2016; Gentry et al., 2014) and challenging assignments to help their employees develop (Gentry, 2016). First-time managers must also learn to be their employees' advocate, letting others know about their direct reports' successes (Gentry 2016). Additionally, interpersonal skills, including social perceptiveness and persuasion (Mumford et al., 2007), impact the leader's ability to coach and develop others (Gentry, 2016).

Another component of transformational leadership, individual consideration, is related to Gentry's (2016) definition of coaching and developing others. Leaders high in individual consideration promote learning opportunities to subordinates (Deinert et al.,

2014), provide supportive climates (Deinert et al., 2014), and act as coaches or mentors (Judge & Piccolo, 2004). Effective first-time managers must provide challenging yet attainable assignments, provide feedback, and be a mentor (Gentry, 2016)- all of which are aspects of individual consideration.

#### **Development of Leadership Skills**

Having identified skill gaps of first-time managers, it is possible to examine ways to improve those skills through training and development. It is well known that leadership skills can be learned (e.g. Mumford et al., 2000). A 2017 meta-analysis revealed that leadership training- defined as leader, managerial, and supervisory training and development programs with the goal of "enhancing leader knowledge, skills, abilities, and other components" (Lacerenza et al., 2017, p. 1987)- is more effective than previously thought (Lacerenza et al., 2017).

Lacerenza, et al. (2017) examined the effectiveness of leadership training for lowlevel, mid-level, and high-level leaders and found that, while all three levels of management had similar effect sizes with regard to achieving organizational goals (i.e., results), training for low-level leaders had higher effect sizes for training transfer to the job situation (Lacerenza, et al., 2017). This implies that skill training for first-time managers (presumably low-level leaders) should result in good skill transfer back to the job.

These findings indicated that first-time managers can be trained in skill gaps and, potentially, with more success than if trained later in their careers. By providing leadership development prior to promotion, organizations can increase the rates of success of first-time managers and, therefore, reduce the negative consequences of

promoting ill-prepared leaders. Leadership training has been known to begin as early as the college years, providing development opportunities for future employees.

## Leadership Development in Higher Education

Leadership development is a part of many college mission statements (Cress et al., 2001). The goal of developing leadership skills in higher education is to enhance the employability of college graduates. The leadership skills students gain while in college may be helpful to those who want to become leaders in work organizations.

#### Adventure Education in Higher Education

One type of leadership training at the college level is adventure education. Adventure education is founded on experiential education theory, using a combination of adventure activities (e.g. ropes courses, hiking, rock climbing, etc.) and focused reflection to meet learning outcomes (Baldwin et al., 2004). Adventure activities vary in length from a few hours to several days or several months. Each college and university design their programs to meet the needs of their population and to maximize their specific learning outcomes.

#### Leadership Development of Participants

Over the years, research has consistently demonstrated the positive impact of adventure education on *participants* (e.g. Frauman & Waryold, 2009; Hattie et al., 1997). However, a review of the literature has revealed very little information on the leadership development and skill acquisition of the *student leaders* who facilitate many of these programs. By reviewing the research on the outcomes of participants, we may be able to better understand the impact on student leaders. Participant outcomes can be grouped into three categories: self-oriented, grouporiented, and outdoor-oriented. Self-oriented outcomes include leadership, self-efficacy, confidence, and self-awareness (Cason & Gillis, 1994; Ewert & Yoshino, 2011; Frauman & Waryold, 2009; Hattie et al., 1997; Sibthorp et al., 2008). Group-oriented outcomes refer to the small group behaviors and ability to communicate effectively within that group (Sibthorp et al., 2007). The third category of outcomes relates to the specific outdoor skills attained by participating in an adventure activity, such as backcountry travel, but also includes transferable skills, such as judgment and decision-making (Sibthorp et al., 2007; Sibthorp et al., 2008).

All three categories of participant outcomes are relevant to the skills necessary for a first-time manager. Self-oriented skills are related to Gentry's (2016) influence skill gap. The ability to be self-aware will impact the social perceptiveness needed for influence. Group-oriented skills are directly related to all four skill gaps. Communication and influence are both key to group-oriented skills, including the ability to communicate effectively and motivate others. Small group behaviors (included in group-oriented skills) emphasize the leader's focus on group goals over personal goals. This focus on the team is what drives the team to success. Group-oriented skills also include giving feedback such as that needed to develop others. Leading team achievement is also enhanced by the strategic skills learned through specific outdoor skills, such as judgment and decisionmaking "in the face of circumstances with which they are unfamiliar or that are beyond the scope of their experience" (Sibthorp et al, 2008, p. 148).

#### Leadership Development of Student Leaders

Adventure education student leaders are facilitators responsible for the safety and the education of their participants, balancing the inherent risk of adventure activities while facilitating the program's learning outcomes (D. Sperry, personal communication, September 15, 2019). They have a unique role of leading both peers and those who, in other circumstances, would have authority over them. Student leaders are often leading other college students, though they may also lead faculty and staff (Sandberg et al., 2017). A student leader for a multi-day backpacking trip may face dangerous weather conditions, such as lightning, freezing temperatures, and precipitation as well as complex human factors, such as their group's motivation to succeed and the level of effective communication with their co-leader. While participants' primary goal is to overcome the physical and emotional challenges to complete the trip, the leader's goals are to overcome those same challenges while also navigating the environmental, equipment, and human factors of the expedition (Curtis, 2005).

The impacts on student leaders who facilitate adventure education programs are not well known (Bell et al., 2010). While we can make the connection between participant outcomes and the necessary skills for first-time managers, we can not yet make that same connection to adventure education leaders. It may be that student leaders will experience similar outcomes as their participants, but it is also possible they will experience those outcomes to a greater degree. This may be for several reasons: (1) leaders hold the authority of positional leadership; (2) they have additional responsibilities, such as planning and executing programs and decision-making; and (3) they experience a greater level of the antecedents to positive participant outcomes, such as more opportunities for experience-based training and extended time in the field.

Unlike their participants, adventure education student leaders are in formal leadership positions. Some programs may include a leader-of-the day model where participants take on leadership roles for a specific period (Sibthorp et al., 2008), but the student leaders maintain ultimate authority over decisions. This direct leadership experience allows student leaders to practice leadership skills and may help them develop their leadership identities (Sandberg et al., 2017).

Student leaders also have the additional responsibilities of planning and executing programs (Sandberg et al., 2017) and making critical decisions (D. Sperry, personal communication, September 15, 2019). Planning and execution often involve strategic thinking, including risk assessment, risk mitigation, and future-oriented thinking (D. Sperry, personal communication, September 15, 2019). In addition, student leaders must make decisions in the field based on high-risk and dynamic factors, such as the environment and the psychology of human behavior (D. Sperry, personal communication, September 15, 2019)- factors important to leadership development (Gentry, 2016; Gentry et al., 2014; Mumford et al., 2007; Plakhotnik et al., 2011).

The features of adventure education that are related to positive outcomes in participants can also be found in the experiences of student leaders, including (1) experiential education-based training that uses challenging adventure activities and focused reflection and (2) programs that last several days to weeks (Cason & Gillis, 1994; Hattie et al., 1997; Sandberg et al., 2017). Adventure education programs benefit from an experiential education model where the activities are the conduit for reflection, which leads to skill attainment (Dewey, 1938). Student leaders attend training, but also facilitate adventure programs- learning by doing the work in the field (Sandberg et al.,

2017). The training and programs they facilitate are often mentally and physically taxing due to the leaders' responsibility to the safety and learning outcomes of the group (D. Sperry, personal communication, September 15, 2019). Student leaders have more opportunities for the experience-reflection cycle than their participants, and, therefore, may attain more benefits than participants.

Another feature of programs associated with positive outcomes is the length of the program (Cason & Gillis, 1994; Hattie et al., 1997). Student leaders' overall time in the field can be extensive depending on how long they retain their position (D. Sperry, personal communication, September 15, 2019). A student who enters a student leadership position in their first year of college, continues in that role until their graduation four years later, and leads an average of four days per semester, would have accumulated 32 field days. That number does not include training, preparation for programs, or logistics that occur post-program. Participants may not have the opportunity to attend the number of adventure education programs to match the experience level (i.e. number of accumulated days) of the student leaders. This additional program time may lead to greater levels of outcomes than participants attain.

Adventure education leaders may have comparable or even greater skill acquisition than their participants. Overall, student leaders may benefit from their positions of leadership, additional responsibilities, and greater exposure to antecedents of positive outcomes beyond those of participation.

The impact of this leadership experience on work organizations could be significant given the number of students who are trained as adventure education leaders. In 2006, a census of outdoor orientation programs showed that 3,000 college students

were trained as leaders (Bell et al., 2010). The total number of student leaders would likely have been much larger if the census had been expanded to include leaders of other types of outdoor programs beyond orientation programs.

#### **The Present Study**

Adventure education provides an opportunity for students to obtain leadership experience while in college (Sandberg et al., 2017). While there exists some research on first-time managers (e.g. Gentry & Walsh, 2015) and research demonstrating the impact of adventure education on participant outcomes (e.g. Frauman & Waryold, 2009; Hattie et al., 1997), research has yet to demonstrate the outcomes of adventure education on the development of first-time managers' skills. Student leaders of adventure education programs have leadership roles in challenging situations where they can experiment with their professional identities and reflect on their experiences (Sandberg et al., 2017). This environment provides student leaders opportunities practice leading and, therefore, develop the four skills needed for successful first-time managers.

The present study combines the research on adventure education with the literature on first-time managers to examine the impact of leading adventure education programs on college students' attainment of four skills of first-time managers: communication, influence, leading team achievement, and coaching and developing others. Student leaders who have had more opportunities to lead adventure education programs have, consequently, had more opportunities to develop their skills, such that those who have been facilitating programs for longer may demonstrate greater skill acquisition than those who have been facilitating for shorter periods of time. This study compared the leadership skills of adventure education student leaders, participants of

adventure education programs, and college students with no experience with adventure education leadership. The leadership skills measured were based on Gentry's (2016) four skill gaps of first-time managers.

If adventure education programs develop these key leadership skills, adventure education student leaders with longer tenures will report higher levels of leadership skills than (1) those with shorter tenures and (2) those without this type of leadership experience.

# Hypotheses

Tenure of student leaders in collegiate adventure education programs will positively relate to the level of leadership skills such that:

- Tenure of adventure education student leaders will be positively related to levels of (a) communication, (b) influence, (c) leading team achievement, and (d) coaching and developing others.
- Adventure education student leaders will report higher levels of (a) communication, (b) influence, (c) leading team achievement, and (d) coaching and developing others than participants of adventure education programs.
- Adventure education student leaders will report higher levels of (a) communication, (b) influence, (c) leading team achievement, and (d) coaching and developing others than students who are not adventure education leaders.

#### **METHOD**

#### **Participants and Procedure**

Participants were recruited in two phases. The first phase recruited college students through professional contacts and a professional listserv within the adventure education field. This phase occurred between October 2019 and January of 2020 and focused on all college students- adventure education leaders, adventure education participants, and students with no leadership experience in adventure education (i.e. nonleaders). The second phase occurred in February of 2020 and recruited college students who were non-leaders because the initial sample contained only 16 non-leaders, which was below the minimum sample size of 30 (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016). These participants were recruited through professional contacts.

Recruited participants received an invitation to complete an online survey. The survey consisted of demographic information, including tenure as a student leader for an adventure education program, and measures for the four leadership skills (see Appendix). During the first phase of recruitment, participants were offered an incentive of a \$5 Amazon gift card for completing the survey. Participants recruited during the second phase were entered into a drawing for one of six \$10 Amazon gift cards. The incentive was changed due to an unexpected high number of responses during the first phase of the study and, therefore, needing to be more conservative with the remaining funds.

A total of 2,797 responses were recorded using an online survey platform. Of those, 134 were determined to qualify for the study based on appropriately answering the attention check item, taking a reasonable time to complete the study (minimum of 5 minutes), and completing at least 25% of the survey. The large difference between the number of responses and the number of qualified participants was due to the impact of malicious bots. Approximately 2,200 answers from bots were identified and removed from the data using the predetermined inclusion criteria: the attention check item and the 5-minute minimum completion time.

The 2018 survey of enrolled college students (United States Census Bureau, 2020) lists the mode for age as 20 to 24 years (42.66% of the total population of enrolled college students). Participants in this study were college students between the ages of 18 and 49 years old with a mean age of 21.7 years (SD = 3.73). Female students accounted for 55.71% of the population of enrolled college students in 2018 (United States Census Bureau, 2020). In this study, 55.6% of participants were female with no participants identifying as non-binary. The sample from this study was consistent with the age and sex of the greater population of enrolled college students.

The race and ethnicity of students, however, did not align with the U.S. Census Bureau data. The most common race for enrolled college students in the United States was White, accounting for 54.20% of the population. The second most common ethnicity was Hispanic, accounting for 18.90% of the population. In this study, the most common race and ethnicity identified were in line with the U.S. Census Bureau, but at a higher percentage of the sample. Participants primarily identified as White (72.7%) with the next largest ethnic identify being Hispanic/ Latinx/ Chicanx (12.9%). This study asked participants to identify their ethnicity, not their race, which may account for some of the difference between the sample and population. However, it may also be that White students were oversampled.

When asked if they were student leaders of a college adventure education program, 103 participants (76.9%) responded affirmatively. Of the 31 non-adventure education leaders (referred to as non-leaders for the purposes of this study), 17 responded that they had participated in at least one adventure education program. Therefore, for the purposes of this study there were 103 adventure education leaders, 17 adventure education participants, and 14 students who had not participated in adventure education and were not adventure education leaders. Thus, in the final sample, despite phase two recruiting, the number of adventure education participants and students who had not participated in adventure education were both under the minimum recommended sample size of 30 per participant grouping (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016).

#### Measures

#### **Demographic Information**

Demographic information was collected from participants, including age, sex, and ethnicity to determine if the sample was representative of typical college students as compared to United States Census Bureau (2020) data. Ethnicity was requested as an open-ended item and then coded to match the United States Census Bureau (2020) categorizations: White-non-Hispanic, Black, Asian, and Hispanic. Participants who indicated an ethnicity not in one of these categories was coded as "Other." Sex was also requested with an open-ended item to allow for non-binary genders; however, all participants responded as "female," "woman," "male," or "man" and, therefore, were categorized as either "female" or "male." This also allowed for comparison to the United States Census Bureau (2020) designations of "female" and "male." Previous and

concurrent leadership experience was also collected to determine if there was a relation between leadership experience, in general, with the criterion measures.

## **Attention Check**

The survey included an attention check item embedded in the transformational leadership scale. This scale was chosen for the attention check item because of its relative length compared to the other measures. Respondents who did not select the correct response to this item were removed from the data set prior to data analysis.

#### Tenure as a Student Leader of Adventure Education Programs

Tenure was measured by asking participants to indicate how many semesters they had been a student leader for their college's adventure education program. Two additional items were included to measure experience: the number of field days they accrued as trip leaders and how many team building groups they had facilitated. Given the range of experience possible in a given semester (which may vary program-toprogram and between individual leaders), these two items were included as alternative measures of tenure.

## **Communication**

Communication was measured with the 10-item Interpersonal Communication Competence Scale (ICCS; Rubin & Martin, 1994; see Appendix). The ICCS uses a 5point Likert-type scale from 1 (almost never) to 5 (almost always). It measures ten dimensions. Self-disclosure is the ability to communicate one's personality to others (Rubin & Martin, 1994). Empathy is the ability to feel "with the other" (Rubin & Martin, 1994, p. 34). Social relaxation is the level of comfort one has in an interaction, including when there are negative reactions (Rubin & Martin, 1994). Assertiveness requires the balancing of being an advocate for one's self with upholding the rights of others (Rubin & Martin, 1994). Interaction management allows a person to navigate the procedures of conversation, such as turn taking (Rubin & Martin, 1994). Altercentrism is an orientation to others over the self, leading individuals to be attentive, perceptive, and responsive during conversations (Rubin & Martin, 1994). Expressiveness is the verbal and non-verbal communication of one's feelings (Rubin & Martin, 1994). Supportiveness is the ability to convey a balance of power in the conversation through such actions as being descriptive instead of evaluative (Rubin & Martin, 1994). Immediacy demonstrates that one is present in the conversation through verbal and nonverbal means, such as facing the other person and answering questions directly (Rubin & Martin, 1994). The final dimension of the ICCS, environmental control, is the ability to cooperate and get others to agree in order to achieve the goals of the communication (Rubin & Martin, 1994).

The ICCS measures aspects of communication that define Gentry's (2016) skill gap, such as active listening (e.g. interaction management, altercentrism, supportiveness, and immediacy), broadening preferred communication styles to match the listener (e.g. self-disclosure, empathy, interaction management, and altercentrism), and speaking clearly (e.g. expressiveness and supportiveness; Rubin & Martin, 1994). The ICCS dimensions also measure aspects of communication that impact common areas of growth for leaders (Gentry et al., 2014), such as conflict management (social relaxation, assertiveness, altercentrism, supportiveness, immediacy, and environmental control) and working with diverse employees (e.g. empathy, interaction management, altercentrism, supportiveness, and immediacy). The dimensions emphasize the importance of both

verbal and non-verbal communication (Rubin & Martin, 1994), another key component of Gentry's (2016) skill gap.

In past studies, the ICCS had a coefficient alpha of .63 and demonstrated good concurrent validity with cognitive flexibility (r= .49, p <.01) and communication flexibility (r= .52, p< 01; Rubin & Martin, 1994). In this study, the ICCS had a coefficient alpha of .77, which allowed the use of a composite score for this measure.

## Leading Team Achievement

Leading team achievement was measured using eight items from Sibthorp et al.'s (2007) NOLS Outcome Inventory (NOI). The NOI was developed to assess the participant outcomes from National Outdoor Leadership School courses. The complete NOI consists of 29 items. It was originally designed to be used on an eight-point scale from 1 (not like me) to 8 (like me), but is currently used by NOLS (S. Rochelle, personal communication, October 10, 2019) and other researchers (e.g. Shooter et al., 2007; Collins et al., 2012) with a 7-point scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). I chose to use the 7-point scale because it was consistent with other measures in this study and has shown to have strong internal consistency (e.g. a=.97 for the leadership construct; Collins et al., 2012).

The NOI measures six distinct constructs: (1) communication (alpha = .76), (2) leadership (alpha = .82), (3) small group behavior (alpha = .79), (4) judgment in the outdoors (alpha = .85), (5) outdoor skills (alpha = .86), and (6) environmental awareness (alpha = .76; Sibthorp et al., 2007). The original NOI also included a lie scale such that positive responses to two items were mutually exclusive.

Two subscales were used to assess leading team achievement in this study: leadership and small group behavior (see Appendix). The leadership subscale was defined as "taking initiative, responsibility, and decision-making roles" (Sibthorp et al., 2007, p. 7) and small group behavior was defined as "being a positive and productive group member" (Sibthorp et al., 2007, p. 7). Together, these NOI subscales contribute to the ability of a leader to (a) monitor the team's work, stay organized, and meet deadlines by expressing ideas and providing feedback and (b) build a team and manage the team's chemistry by being a productive group member, providing feedback, and taking responsibility. Monitoring the team's work and building the team are all aspects of leading team achievement (Gentry, 2016).

Because this study assessed only two of the six constructs, the NOI was reduced to eight items- five items for leadership and three items for small group behavior. The instructions to participants were also modified. Sibthorp et al.'s (2007) original measure used a retrospective model, asking participants to respond to each statement in the present as well as to think back to before their NOLS course and respond as they would have then. For the purposes of this study, I asked participants to only respond to each statement in the present. The coefficient alpha for both subscales were above .70 and, therefore, composite scores were calculated for each (NOI leadership = .83; NOI small group behavior= .72).

## Influence

Influence was measured with one component of the 40-item Transformational Leadership Measure (Reichard et al., 2009; see Appendix). This measure assesses four components of transformational leadership, one of which is related to Gentry's (2016) influence: inspirational motivation (twelve items). Responses range from 1 (very strongly disagree) to 7 (very strongly agree). This measure has demonstrated good construct validity and reliability (a = .96; Reichard et al., 2011). The coefficient alpha for this subscale was .90, which allowed the use of a composite score for this measure.

## **Coaching and Developing Others**

Coaching and developing others was measured with one component of the 40item Transformational Leadership Measure (Reichard et al., 2009; see Appendix). This measure assesses four components of transformational leadership, one of which is related to coaching and developing others: individual consideration (nine items). Responses ranged from 1 (very strongly disagree) to 7 (very strongly agree). This measure has demonstrated good construct validity and reliability (a = .96; Reichard, et al., 2011). The coefficient alpha for this subscale was .86, which allowed the use of a composite score for this measure.

#### RESULTS

Given the unusually large number of respondents (over 2,700), the data were first checked for the pre-determined criteria: (1) incomplete responders (25% or less of the survey completed) and (2) inattentive responders (i.e. incorrect response to the attention check item and/or completed the survey in less than five minutes). This resulted in final data set of 134 respondents. The Qualtrics platform used to collect data did not offer an option to ensure that the respondent was not a robot (i.e. Captcha option to ensure a human is responding), so it is likely that many of the 'respondents' of the 2,700 were not human respondents. Luckily, the attention and completion criteria were helpful in ruling them out as qualified responses.

The data were then checked for missing data. The frequency of missing data from qualified responses were between 0.45% and 0.72% for the criterion variables. These percentages were well under the common rule of thumb of 5% to be considered problematic (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016). Therefore, to help retain participants to ensure a reasonable sample size, missing data for criterion variables were replaced by the means for the missing items (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016). Composite scores were then calculated for the outcome variables after assessing that the Cronbach alphas were greater than .70 for each measure.

Descriptive statistics were calculated for study measures, including means and standard deviations (see Tables 1, 2, 3, and 4). Two nominal variables were recoded using dummy codes so they could be included in correlations. Ethnicity was dummy coded as 1 (White, non-Hispanic) and 0 (non-White). Sex was dummy coded as 1 (Female) and 0 (non-Female). Correlations were run for all study participants (Table 1), for adventure education leaders (Table 2), for study participants who had participated in adventure education programs (Table 3), and for all study participants excluding adventure education leaders (i.e. non-leaders – participants of adventure education who had not led a program and students who had never participated in adventure education; Table 4.)

Hypothesis 1 posited that the tenure of adventure education leaders would be positively related to the four criterion variables: (a) communication, (b) influence, (c) leading team achievement, and (d) coaching and developing others. This hypothesis was not supported. As shown in Table 2, the number of semesters a student leader held a leadership position with an adventure education program was not related to the criterion variables.

A second indicator of experience as an adventure education leader, the number of days a student leader facilitated adventure trips, was related to only one criterion variable, communication, and not in the expected direction. The more days a student leader led adventure trips, the lower their self-assessment on the Interpersonal Communication Competence Scale (ICCS), r(101) = -.20, p = .04.

The third and final indicator of leadership experience in adventure education, the number of team building groups student leaders facilitated, showed significant small to moderate negative relations to all four criterion variables. The more team building groups student leaders facilitated, the lower their scores on the ICCS, r(101) = -.29, p < .01, the Transformational Leadership inspirational motivation scale, r(101) = -.34, p < .01, Transformational Leadership individual consideration scale, r(101) = -.33, p < .01, the

NOLS Outcome Inventory (NOI) leadership scale, r(101) = -.40, p < .01, and the NOI small group behavior scale, r(101) = -.37, p < .01.

Also of note for adventure education leaders, the number of leadership positions they held was not related to any of the criterion variables (see Table 2). However, there was a significant moderate negative relation between the number of leadership positions held and communication competence for adventure education *participants* such that the greater the number of programs they participated in the lower their score on the ICCS, r(15) = -.50, p = .04.

The second hypothesis posited that adventure education student leaders would report higher levels of (a) communication, (b) influence, (c) leading team achievement, and (d) coaching and developing others than participants of adventure education programs. No differences were found between the mean scores for student leaders (n =103) and adventure education participants (n = 17) for any of the four criterion variables (see Table 5).

Of note, significant moderate to large negative relations were found for adventure education participants between the number of adventure education programs they participated in and four of the five criterion variables. The more adventure education programs they participated in, the lower their scores on the ICCS, r(15)=-.57, p=.02, Transformational Leadership inspirational motivation scale, r(15)=-.64, p<.01, Transformational Leadership individual consideration scale, r(15)=-.51, p=.04, and the NOI small group scale, r(15)=-.50, p=.04.

The third hypothesis posited that adventure education student leaders would report higher levels of (a) communication, (b) influence, (c) leading team achievement, and (d) coaching and developing others than students who were not adventure education leaders. Participants included in this non-leader group were the study participants who were not adventure education leaders (including adventure education participants). This hypothesis was not supported. There were no significant differences between adventure education student leaders (n = 103) and non-leaders (n = 31) in their responses to the four criterion variables (see Table 6). There was also no relation between leadership experience (independent of adventure education leadership) and the criterion variables for either the adventure education leader group (see Table 2) or the non-leader group (see Table 3).

#### DISCUSSION

The three hypotheses posited in this study were not supported. Adventure education student leaders did not report greater leadership skills with more leadership experience nor did they report greater leadership skills than adventure education participants or students who were not adventure education leaders.

This study revealed significant small negative relations between the number of team building groups students facilitated and the four leadership skills assessed. These relations were in the opposite direction predicted and were not found for other measures of tenure, including the number of semesters students held their positions or the number of days leaders facilitated adventure trips. One reason for this finding could be due to student leaders gaining more accurate self-perceptions with more experience.

The Dunning-Kruger effect explains the tendency for top performers to underestimate their performance and for bottom performers to overestimate their performance (Kruger & Dunning 1999). This effect postulates that poor performers remain in the bottom ranks for performance because they don't know what they don't know (Kruger & Dunning 1999). Receiving feedback, understanding that feedback, and being in situations that are conducive to feedback all impact the Dunning-Kruger effect (Kruger & Dunning 1999). Self-appraisals are improved through experience on the job (Yammarino & Atwater, 1993), receiving feedback from relevant others (Atwater et al., 1995; Yammarino & Atwater, 1993), and experience with self-rating (Yammarino & Atwater, 1993). Adventure education programs tend to give the opportunity for feedback (Sibthorp et al., 2007), which may include self-ratings and ratings from participants, peers, and supervisors. This experience may enhance students' feedback orientation

(London & Smither, 2002). Students who enter an adventure education program and believe they have exemplary communication skills, for example, may learn through leading programs, working with peers, and observing others, that they are not as good at communication as they thought. These students may begin to recognize that they have a lot more room to grow their leadership skills than they thought coming into the program. The more time students are leaders in these programs, the more accurate their selfperceptions may become. More accurate self-perceptions may lead to a more accurate, though lower, assessment on leadership skills.

It is also possible that students who are less accurate in their self-perceptions and/or resistant to feedback leave their leadership positions (voluntarily or involuntarily). This attrition may account for the lower scores on measures of leadership skills over time. Adventure education programs that focus training on self-awareness and on giving and receiving feedback may see improvements in overall organizational effectiveness (Yammarino & Atwater, 1993) and, therefore, be inclined to create a positive feedback culture (London & Smithers, 2002). This culture may enhance the opportunity to improve individual's feedback orientation (London & Smither, 2002) as noted above, but may also incline adventure education programs to remove students from leadership positions who demonstrate low feedback orientation to mitigate the negative impacts to organization effectiveness. This attrition of students with inaccurate self-perception and low feedback orientation may result in more accurate, though lower, overall scores on measures of leadership skills.

Another important finding was the relation between participating in adventure education programs and four of the five leadership skills measured in this study. While

the research in the adventure education field would suggest that participation in adventure education programs would lead to increased skills, such as communication and small group behaviors (e.g. Frauman & Waryold, 2009; Hattie et al., 1997), this study revealed that the self-assessment of skills decreased with more participation. Could this be due to a similar Dunning-Kruger effect of student leaders? It is also possible that, similar to student leaders, adventure education participants with low feedback orientation and poor self-perception self-select out of participating in adventure education programs where there is a healthy culture of feedback.

In either case, it is important to note that the effect size for the adventure education participant group was greater than for the adventure education leader group. The small sample size means there is less power in the former group's results but may still indicate that participants are gaining more accurate self-perception than leaders. Perhaps student leaders are focusing more on their individual technical skill development and the groups' overall development, while participants are able to solely focus on their individual leadership development. It is also possible that program directors seek out and hire student leaders who already demonstrate more accurate self-perception than would be found in the average adventure education participant. Therefore, hiring students who have above average self-perception accuracy would lead to a smaller effect size for skill development over time than would be seen in adventure education participants.

This study has demonstrated that there is an important relation between experience with adventure education and leadership skill development. That relation was not as expected and deserves further exploration. The limitations of the present study will be evaluated before discussing possible avenues for research and practice.

### Limitations

Limitations of this study included poorly designed study items, the use of selfassessment at a single time point, a small sample size, and demographics of the sample. Two study items designed to measure experience were meant to be mutually exclusive, but participants responded as if they were not. Student leaders were asked what type of programs they facilitated in their adventure education programs: trips, team building, or both. They were then asked how many of each type of program they had facilitated. Participants responding that they facilitated only trips should have responded that they led zero team building programs, and vice versa. Out of 103 student leaders who participated in this study, 27 student leaders reported they facilitated team building programs only, 33 reported trips only, and 42 reported they facilitated both types of programs. However, 96 of the student leaders reported numbers when asked how many trips they facilitated and 87 reported numbers when asked how many team building groups they facilitated. This may be due to misunderstanding the survey items regarding the type of programs they facilitated and/or the number of programs they facilitated. This lack of clarity may explain why there was a significant relation between the number of team building groups facilitated and the four criterion variables but neither the number of days leading trips nor the number of semesters as a leader.

This study only used self-assessment to measure leadership skills. Self-assessment is known to be unreliable (Yammarino & Atwater, 1993) and would benefit from including objective assessments of leadership skills as well as assessment by others. Future research should include assessment by peers, supervisors, and program participants to help determine the accuracy of self-assessments. Additionally, objective

31

measures of skills would enhance the robustness of future research. One example of an objective measure could be the number and types of incident/ accident reports generated during the programs student leaders facilitate. Another objective measure could be the number of times leaders contact their supervisor(s) during a program. Both types of objective measures would assess how well the leader is managing the program, their participants, and their co-leaders. Lower rates of incidents/ accidents and less supervisor contact during programs may indicate that leaders are more skilled in communication (with their co-leaders and participants) leading team achievement, influence, and coaching and developing others.

Another limitation of this study was that assessment only occurred at one time period. This cross-sectional design did not allow for detecting possible causal connections between predictor and criterion variables that would be possible with an experimental design or from a longitudinal design (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016). A longitudinal design would also have controlled for turnover of leaders out of their adventure education programs and, possibly, allowed for assessment of the reasons for that turnover.

The overall sample size for this study was adequate with 134 total participants, which is well over a recommended minimum of 30 participants for studies involving comparisons across groups, but was still relatively small (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016). Additionally, two of the groups created to test the study hypotheses were small. The participant-only group only contained 17 participants, far below the minimum of 30 recommended (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016), and the non-leader group contained 31 participants, just above the minimum. The small sample limited the power to detect

32

significant differences between groups and limited the generalizability of the findings (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016). Statistics generated from small samples are also vulnerable to instability/lack of reliability such that the sample statistics may not accurately estimate the population (Schönbrodt & Perugini, 2013). Additionally, given the small sample, a type III error was possible- accepting the null hypotheses was correct, but the cause of that effect was misunderstood- though this was mitigated to some degree by using two-tailed *t*-Tests.

While the sample was from the population of interest (i.e. college students) and had a representative mean age and frequency of men and women, White students were oversampled. Additionally, this sample was compared to the demographics of all college students in the United States, but not to college student leaders. It is possible that the populations of college student leaders and, even more specifically, adventure education student leaders differ in some significant way from the United States' population of enrolled college students. These possible differences would also make these results less generalizable to adventure education leaders nationally.

### **Implications and Future Research**

Given the failure rate of first-time managers (Arneson, 2005; Gentry, 2016; Gentry et al., 2014), college leadership training programs could be an avenue for developing important leadership skills that could help prepare future workplace leaders for their roles. This study demonstrated that collegiate leadership programs, such as adventure education, may not be leading to the skill acquisition intended and assumed to be happening.

Research from the adventure and experiential education fields has demonstrated positive outcomes of participation (e.g. Hattie et al., 1997). However, there has been a dearth of research on the outcomes for the student leaders who facilitate these programs (Bell, Holmes, & Williams, 2010). This study demonstrated that there may be important leader development occurring, though perhaps not as envisioned by program directors. There may be an important role for feedback and experience in skill development (Atwater et al., 1995; Kruger & Dunning 1999; Yammarino & Atwater, 1993) that is present in adventure education programs. Adventure education program directors can improve their program and participant outcomes by ensuring they create a positive feedback culture (London & Smithers, 2002). Students who receive effective feedback will become more self-aware (Atwater et al., 1995; Yammarino & Atwater, 1993) and the programs, themselves, will be more effective (Yammarino & Atwater, 1993). By better preparing college students for first-time management, organizations can capitalize on a workforce that is ready to lead. Future research could examine these issues by exploring the role of feedback, feedback culture, and feedback orientation on skill development of adventure education student leaders.

Also, future research is needed to determine how to maximize skill acquisition, development, and transfer in collegiate adventure education programs. Research should go beyond the small samples that are common in adventure education research (e.g. Boettcher & Gansemer-Topf, 2015) and published in field-specific journals (e.g. Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership; Journal of Experiential Education; and Journal of Higher Education). Bridging fields of study beyond higher education and recreation may help overcome the barriers to understanding leader development at the

34

college level. Combining research from industrial-organizational psychology, business, communications, and other fields that study leadership will increase the breadth of knowledge that can be applied to college leadership programs.

For example, taking what is known in industrial-organizational psychology about leader development (e.g. Lacerenza et al., 2017) and what is known in higher education about leader identity development (e.g. Komives et al., 2005), we can create effective training programs. These programs should then be assessed across programs, institutions, and cultures using robust methods. This assessment data, collected strategically, would contribute to the catalog of information on leader development. This information would be useful to college program directors as well as organizations who recruit college students into their own leader training programs. To be useful, however, that data must be published across disciplines- sharing what is assessed in college training programs with the industrial-organizational psychology researchers and practitioners and sharing what is assessed in organizations' leadership programs with the higher education researchers and practitioners. In this way, using research-backed best practices, robust methods of assessment, and publishing across fields of study, we can ensure college students are graduating their institutions with the skills needed by organizations.

#### Conclusion

This study examined the relation between experience with adventure education programs and leadership skill development. The literature on effective first-time managers was brought together with the research on adventure education programs to examine if student leaders developed important leadership skills by facilitating adventure education programs. While the hypotheses of this study were not supported, important

35

implications for college leadership programs and organizations seeking to support firsttime managers were revealed. Colleges and organizations can benefit from further research on leadership skill development and leadership training at the college level to prepare students for successful first-time management in the workplace.

#### REFERENCES

- Arneson, S. (2005). Help new leaders succeed. *Leadership Excellence Essentials*, 22(5), 11-12.
- Atwater, L., Roush, P., & Fischthal, A. (1995). The influence of upward feedback on self- and follower ratings of leadership. *Personnel Psychology*, 48, 35-59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1995.tb01745.x
- Baldwin, C., Persing, J., & Magnuson, D. (2004). The role of theory, research, and evaluation in adventure education. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 26(3), 167-183. https://doi.org/10.1177/105382590402600307
- Bell, B. J., Holmes, M. R., & Williams, B. G. (2010). A census of outdoor orientation programs at four-year colleges in the United States. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 33(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1177/105382591003300102
- Boettcher, M. L. & Gansemer-Topf, A. M. (2015). Examining leadership development through student leader outdoor recreation training. *Recreational Sports Journal*, 39(1), 49-58. https://doi.org/10.1123/rsj.2014-0034
- Brown, S. D. (2006). Congratulations, you're now a manager! Now what. *Black Enterprise*, *36*(9), 102-106.
- Cason, D., & Gillis, H. L. (1994). A meta-analysis of outdoor adventure programming with adolescents. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 17(1), 40-47. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/105382599401700109

- Collins, R., & Sibthorp, J. (2012, January 13). The Importance of Program Quality in Youth Development: Program Quality Indicators as Predictors of Outcome Achievement Among NOLS Participants. In Coalition for Education in the Outdoors Eleventh Biennial Research Symposium (pp. 99-102). Coalition for Education in the Outdoors.
- Cress, C. M., Astin, H. S., Zimmerman-Oster, K., & Burkhardt, J. C. (2001). Developmental outcomes of college students' involvement in leadership activities. *Journal of College Student Development*, 42(1), 15-27.
- Curtis, R. (2005). Safety and emergency procedures. In *The Backpacker's Field Manual*, *Revised and Updated: A Comprehensive Guide to Mastering Backcountry Skills* (pp. 223-255). Three Rivers Press.
- Deinert, A., Homan, A. C., Boer, D., Voelpel, S. C., & Gutermann, D. (2015).
  Transformational leadership sub-dimensions and their link to leaders' personality and performance. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *26*(6), 1095-1120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.08.001
- Dewey, J. (1938). *Experience and Education*. Kappa Delta Pi. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/00131728609335764
- Dugan, J. P. (2006). Explorations using the social change model: Leadership development among college men and women. *Journal of college student development*, 47(2), 217-225. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2006.0015

- Ellinger, A. D., Watkins, K. E., & Bostrom, R. P. (1999). Managers as facilitators of learning in learning organizations. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 10(2), 105-125. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.3920100203
- Ewert, A., & Yoshino, A. (2011). The influence of short-term adventure-based experiences on levels of resilience. *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, 11(1), 35-50. https://doi.org/10.1080/14729679.2010.532986
- Frauman, E., & Waryold, D. (2009). Impact of a wilderness orientation program on college student's life effectiveness. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, 1(2), 189-207. https://doi.org/10.7768/1948-5123.1018
- Gentry, W.A. (2016). "It's Not About Me. It's Me & You": How Being Dumped Can Help First-Time Managers. Center for Creative Leadership. https://www.ccl.org/ wp-content/uploads/2016/09/its-not-about-me-its-about-me-and-you-center-forcreative-leadership.pdf
- Gentry, W.A., Logan, P., & Tonidandel, S. (2014). Understanding the Leadership Challenges of First-Time Managers: Strengthening Your Leadership Pipeline. Center for Creative Leadership. https://www.ccl.org/wpcontent/uploads/ 2015/04/UnderstandingLeadershipChallenges.pdf
- Gentry, W.A. & Walsh, R.J. (2015). *Be the Boss Everyone Wants to Work For: A Guide* for New Leaders. Berrett-Koehler Publishers.
- Hattie, J., Marsh, H. W., Neill, J. T., & Richards, G. E. (1997). Adventure education and Outward Bound: Out-of-class experiences that make a lasting difference. *Review*

*of Educational Research*, *67*(1), 43-87. https://doi.org/10.3102/ 00346543067001043

- Judge, T. A., & Piccolo, R. F. (2004). Transformational and transactional leadership: a meta-analytic test of their relative validity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(5), 755-768. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.5.755
- Komives, S. R., Owen, J. E., Longerbeam, S. D., Mainella, F. C., & Osteen, L. (2005).
   Developing a leadership identity: A grounded theory. *Journal of College Student Development*, 46(6), 593-611. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2005.0061
- Kruger, J. & Dunning, D. (1999). Unskilled and unaware of it: How difficulties in recognizing one's own incompetence lead to inflated self-assessments. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 77(6), 1121-1134. https://doi.org/10.1037/ 0022-3514.77.6.1121
- Lacerenza, C. N., Reyes, D. L., Marlow, S. L., Joseph, D. L., & Salas, E. (2017). Leadership training design, delivery, and implementation: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *102*(12), 1686-1718. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/apl0000241
- London, M., & Smither, J. W. (2002). Feedback orientation, feedback culture, and the longitudinal performance management process. *Human Resource Management Review*, 12(1), 81-100. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1053-4822(01)00043-2
- Lord, R. G., Day, D. V., Zaccaro, S. J., Avolio, B. J., & Eagly, A. H. (2017). Leadership in applied psychology: Three waves of theory and research. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(3), 434-451. https://doi.org/10.1037/ap10000089

- Mumford, T.V., Campion, M.A., & Morgeson, F.P. (2007). The leadership skills strataplex: Leadership skill requirements across organizational levels. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 18, 154-166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2007.01.005
- Mumford, M. D., Zaccaro, S. J., Harding, F. D., Jacobs, T. O., & Fleishman, E. A.
  (2000). Leadership skills for a changing world: Solving complex social problems. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *11*(1), 11-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.
  2007.01.005
- Plakhotnik, M. S., Rocco, T. S., & Roberts, N. A. (2011). Increasing retention and success of first-time managers: A model of three integral processes for the transition to management. *Human Resource Development Review*, 10(1), 26-45. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484310386752
- Reichard, R. J., Riggio, R. E., & Smith, M. (2009). Development of a new self-report measure of transformational leadership. *Academy of Management (AOM)*, Chicago, IL. https://doi.org/10.1037/t11708-000
- Reichard, R. J., Riggio, R. E., Guerin, D. W., Oliver, P. H., Gottfried, A. W., & Gottfried,
  A. E. (2011). A longitudinal analysis of relationships between adolescent
  personality and intelligence with adult leader emergence and transformational
  leadership. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 22(3), 471-481. https://doi.org/10.1016/
  j.leaqua.2011.04.005
- Riggio, R.E. (2018). Leadership. In *Introduction to Industrial/Organizational Psychology* (7<sup>th</sup> ed., pp. 384-417). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315620589-13

- Rubin, R. B., & Martin, M. M. (1994). Development of a measure of interpersonal communication competence. *Communication Research Reports*, 11(1), 33-44. https://doi.org/10.1080/08824099409359938
- Sandberg, D., Martin, B., Szolosi, A., Early, S., & Casapulla, S. (2017). Developing student leaders in campus outdoor recreation programs: An appreciative inquiry. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership, 9*(1), 113-127. https://doi.org/10.18666/JOREL-2017-V9-I1-7462
- Schönbrodt, F. D. & Perugini, M. (2013). At what sample size do correlations stabilize? *Journal of Research in Personality*, 47(5), 609-612. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jrp.2013.05.009
- Sekaran, U. & Bougie, R. (2016). Research Methods for Business: A Skill-Building Approach. John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Shooter, W., Sibthorp, J., & Gookin, J. (2010). The importance of trust in outdoor education: Exploring the relationship between trust in outdoor leaders and developmental outcomes. *Research in Outdoor Education*, 10(1), 48-56. https://doi.org/10.1353/roe.2010.0006
- Sibthorp, J., Paisley, K., & Gookin, J. (2007). Exploring participant development through adventure-based programming: A model from the National Outdoor Leadership School. *Leisure Sciences*, 29(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400600851346

- Sibthorp, J., Paisley, K., Gookin, J., & Furman, N. (2008). The pedagogic value of student autonomy in adventure education. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 31(2), 136-151. https://doi.org/10.1177/105382590803100203
- Society for Human Resource Management (2015). Business and human capital challenges today and in the future: A research report. https://www.shrm.org/hrtoday/trends-and-forecasting/research-and-surveys/pages/2015-human-capitalbusiness-challenges.aspx
- Somaya, D. & Williamson, I.O. (2008). Rethinking the 'War on Talent'. *MIT Sloan Management Review, 49*(4), 29-34.
- United States Census Bureau (2020). https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2018/ demo/school-enrollment/2018-cps.html
- Yammarino, F.J. & Atwater, L.E. (1993). Understanding self-perception accuracy: Implications for human resource management. *Human Resource Management*, 32(2&3), 231-247. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.3930320204
- Zimmerman-Oster, K., & Burkhardt, J. C. (1999). Leadership in the making: A comprehensive examination of the impact of leadership development programs on students. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, 6(3/4), 50-66. https://doi.org/10.1177/107179199900600304

Descriptive Statistics and Correlations for Study Variables of All Participants

	п	М	SD	1	2	3
1. Age	133	21.70	3.73	-		-
2. $Sex^a$	133			04	-	
3. Ethnicity <sup>b</sup>	132			18*	21*	-
4. Lead Status <sup>c</sup>	134			03	-16	.01
5. Communication Competence	134	3.71	.54	12	.28**	08
6. Inspirational Motivation	134	5.47	.82	09	.16	02
7. Individual Consideration	134	5.35	.75	05	.18**	07
8. NOI Leadership	134	5.59	.95	11	.15	07
9. NOI Small Group	134	5.61	.97	04	.08	04
	п	М	SD	4	5	6
4. Lead Status <sup><i>c</i></sup>	134			-		
5. Communication Competence	134	3.71	0.54	.06	-	
6. Inspirational Motivation	134	5.47	0.82	.00	.67**	-
7. Individual Consideration	134	5.35	0.75	.01	.69**	.84**
8. NOI Leadership	134	5.59	0.95	.00	.67**	.68**
9. NOI Small Group	134	5.61	0.97	06	.64**	.68**
	n	М	SD	7	8	9
7. Individual Consideration	134	5.35	0.75	-		
8. NOI Leadership	134	5.59	0.95	.71**	-	
9. NOI Small Group	134	5.61	0.97	.71**	.71**	-

<sup>a</sup>Sex was coded as 1 (women) and 0 (men). <sup>b</sup> Ethnicity was coded as 1 (White, non-Hispanic) and 0 (non-White). <sup>c</sup>Lead Status was coded as 1 (not an adventure education student leader) and 0 (adventure education student leader).

\**p* < .05. \*\**p* < .01

Descriptive Statistics and Correlations for Study Variables of Adventure Education Leaders

	п	М	SD	1	2	3
1. Age	103	21.80	2.90	-		
2. $Sex^a$	103			.02	-	
3. Ethnicity <sup>b</sup>	102			.21*	16	-
4. No. Semesters as Leader	103	3.08	1.86	.15	.15	.07
5. No. Field Days	101	46.37	39.12	.21*	.11	.10
6. No. Groups Facilitated	90	37.67	35.77	.25*	05	.00
7. No. Other Leadership Positions	99	2.12	2.11	07	05	12
8. Communication Competence	103	3.69	0.56	23*	.30**	08
9. Inspirational Motivation	103	5.47	0.80	14	.26**	08
10. Individual Consideration	103	5.34	0.76	10	.26**	12
11. NOI Leadership	103	5.59	1.01	11	.18	14
12. NOI Small Group	103	5.64	0.98	06	.12	12
	n	M	SD	4	5	6
4. No. Semesters as Leader	103	3.08	1.86	-		
5. No. Field Days	101	46.37	39.12	.34**	-	
6. No. Groups Facilitated	90	37.67	35.77	.25*	.68**	-
7. No. Other Leadership Positions	99	2.12	2.11	.09	.07	.04
8. Communication Competence	103	3.69	0.56	.06	20*	29**
9. Inspirational Motivation	103	5.47	0.80	.05	12	34**
10. Individual Consideration	103	5.34	0.76	.07	12	33**
11. NOI Leadership	103	5.59	1.01	07	18	40**
12. NOI Small Group	103	5.64	0.98	01	16	37**

n	М	SD	7	8	9
99	2.12	2.11	-		
103	3.69	0.56	04	-	
103	5.47	0.80	09	.64**	-
103	5.34	0.76	09	.70**	.84**
103	5.59	1.01	.01	.70**	.71**
103	5.64	0.98	.02	.65**	.68**
n	М	SD	10	11	12
103	5.34	0.76	-		
103	5.59	1.01	.73**	-	
103	5.64	0.98	.70**	.76**	-
	99 103 103 103 103 103 103 103	99       2.12         103       3.69         103       5.47         103       5.34         103       5.59         103       5.64         n       M         103       5.34         103       5.64	99         2.12         2.11           103         3.69         0.56           103         5.47         0.80           103         5.34         0.76           103         5.59         1.01           103         5.64         0.98           n         M         SD           103         5.39         1.01	99 $2.12$ $2.11$ -           103 $3.69$ $0.56$ $04$ 103 $5.47$ $0.80$ $09$ 103 $5.34$ $0.76$ $09$ 103 $5.59$ $1.01$ $.01$ 103 $5.64$ $0.98$ $.02$ n         M         SD $10$ 103 $5.34$ $0.76$ $-$ 103 $5.34$ $0.76$ $-$ 103 $5.34$ $0.76$ $-$ 103 $5.59$ $1.01$ $.73^{**}$	99 $2.12$ $2.11$ -         103 $3.69$ $0.56$ $04$ -         103 $5.47$ $0.80$ $09$ $.64^{**}$ 103 $5.34$ $0.76$ $09$ $.70^{**}$ 103 $5.59$ $1.01$ $.01$ $.70^{**}$ 103 $5.64$ $0.98$ $.02$ $.65^{**}$ n       M       SD $10$ $11$ 103 $5.34$ $0.76$ -         103 $5.59$ $1.01$ $.73^{**}$ -

<sup>a</sup>Sex was coded as 1 (women) and 0 (men). <sup>b</sup>Ethnicity was coded as 1 (White, non-Hispanic) and 0 (non-White). \*p < .05. \*\*p < .01

Descriptive Statistics and Correlations for Study Variables of Adventure Education Program Participants

	п	М	SD	1	2	3	4
1. Age	16	20.38	1.02	-			
2. Sex <sup>a</sup>	16			29	-		
3. Ethnicity <sup>b</sup>	16			.14	25	-	
4. No. Leadership Positions	17	1.65	1.90	12	09	05	-
5. Number of Adventure							
Education Programs Participated	16	3.06	2.93	.06	36	01	29
6. Communication Competence	17	3.81	0.49	.13	.20	25	50
7. Inspirational Motivation	17	5.55	0.81	.07	19	24	10
8. Individual Consideration	17	5.36	0.70	.13	19	14	01
9. NOI Leadership	17	5.79	0.53	16	.49*	05	13
10. NOI Small Group	17	5.55	1.07	.36	.12	20	33
	п	М	SD	5	6	7	
5. Number of Adventure Education Programs Participated	16	3.06	2.93	-			
6. Communication Competence	17	3.81	0.49	57*	-		
7. Inspirational Motivation	17	5.55	0.81	64**	.82**		-
8. Individual Consideration	17	5.36	0.70	51*	.58*	.8]	**
9. NOI Leadership	17	5.79	0.53	49*	.23	.18	3
10. NOI Small Group	17	5.55	1.07	50*	.72**	.63	3**
	п	М	SD		9	1	0
8. Individual Consideration	17	5.36			-		
9. NOI Leadership	17	5.79				-	
10. NOI Small Group	17	5.55	1.0	.74	<b>1**</b> .5	1*	-

10. NOI Small Group175.551.07.74\*\*.51\*-aSex was coded as 1 (women) and 0 (men).b Ethnicity was coded as 1 (White, non-Hispanic) and 0 (non-White).

\**p* < .05. \*\**p* < .01

Descriptive Statistics and Correlations for Study Variables of Non-Adventure Education Leaders

	п	М	SD	1	2	3	4
1. Age	30	21.50	5.82	-			
2. Sex <sup>a</sup>	30			06	-		
3. Ethnicity <sup>b</sup>	30			24	39	-	
4. No. Leadership Positions	28	2.27	2.93	19	.16	.06	-
5. Communication Competence	31	3.77	0.47	.12	.12	07	02
6. Inspirational Motivation	31	5.47	0.90	03	20	.17	.19
7. Individual Consideration	31	5.36	0.71	.06	18	.15	.26
8. NOI Leadership	31	5.60	0.76	14	.04	.24	.09
9. NOI Small Group	31	5.51	0.94	03	10	.29	05
	п	М	SD	5	6	7	_
5. Communication Competence	31	3.77	0.47	-			
6. Inspirational Motivation	31	5.47	0.90	.79**	-		
7. Individual Consideration	31	5.36	0.71	.67**	.85**	-	
8. NOI Leadership	31	5.60	0.76	.50**	.62**	.61**	
9. NOI Small Group	31	5.51	0.94	.64**	.67**	.74**	
							_
	n	М	SD	8	9		
8. NOI Leadership	31	5.60	0.76	-			
9. NOI Small Group	31	5.51	0.94	.53**	-		

<sup>a</sup>Sex was coded as 1 (women) and 0 (men). <sup>b</sup> Ethnicity was coded as 1 (White, non-Hispanic) and 0 (non-White).

\**p* < .05. \*\**p* < .01

	Participants ( <i>n</i> =17)		Leaders ( <i>n</i> =103)				
_	Μ	SD	М	SD	<i>t</i> (118)	р	Cohen's d
Communication Competence	3.81	0.49	3.69	0.56	.85	.40	.23
Inspirational Motivation	5.55	0.81	5.47	0.80	.35	.73	.10
Individual Consideration	5.36	0.70	5.34	0.76	.09	.93	.02
NOI Leadership	5.79	0.53	5.59	1.01	.79	.43	.25
NOI Small Group	5.55	1.07	5.64	0.98	34	.73	.09

Descriptive Statistics and t-Tests for Study Variables of Adventure Education Leaders and Adventure Education Participants

		Leaders = <i>31)</i>	Leaders ( <i>n</i> =103)				
	М	SD	М	SD	<i>t</i> (132)	р	Cohen's d
Communication Competence	3.77	0.47	3.69	0.56	.73	.46	.15
Inspirational Motivation	5.47	0.90	5.47	0.80	04	.96	.00
Individual Consideration	5.36	0.71	5.34	0.76	.13	.89	.03
NOI Leadership	5.60	0.76	5.59	1.01	.05	.96	.01
NOI Small Group	5.51	0.94	5.64	0.98	67	.51	.14

Descriptive Statistics and t-Tests for Study Variables of Adventure Education Leaders and Study Participants Who are Not Adventure Education Leaders

### APPENDIX: LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT SURVEY

### Q29. Consent to Participate in a Research Study

Title of the Project: Leadership Development of First-Time Leaders through Collegiate Adventure Education Programs

Principal Investigator: Kristin Coffey, MS, University of North Carolina at Charlotte Faculty Advisor: Linda G. Shanock, Ph.D., University of North Carolina at Charlotte

Purpose of the Research

You are invited to participate in a research study. Participation in this research study is voluntary. The information provided is to give you key information to help you decide whether or not to participate. If you have any questions, please ask.

- The purpose of this study is to examine the development of leadership skills in college students.
- You will be asked to complete an online survey.
- If you choose to participate, it will require 15-minutes of your time.
- There are no known risks to participation in this study beyond those experienced in everyday life.
- There are no direct benefits to participating in this study, but indirect benefits include advancing our understanding of leadership skill development in college students.
- If you choose not to participate, you will not be treated any differently

Please read this form and ask any questions you may have before you decide whether to participate in this research study.

Why are we doing this study?

The purpose of this study is to examine the development of leadership skills in college students.

Why are you being asked to be in this research study?

You are being asked to be in this study because you are aged 18 or older and a current college student.

What will happen if I take part in this study?

If you volunteer to participant in this study, you will be asked to complete an online survey asking a series of questions about your communication and leadership skills. The questions are not sensitive or overly personal. The survey should take between 10 minutes and 15 minutes to complete.

### What benefits might I experience?

There are no direct benefits to participating in this study, but indirect benefits include advancing our understanding of leadership skill development in college students.

### What risks might I experience?

There are no known risks to participation in this study beyond those experienced in everyday life. You will not experience any discomfort greater than what you would experience in your everyday life. We would like to ensure you that all information will be kept confidential according to the guidelines of UNC Charlotte for safe data handling and no one outside the research team will see it. As well, as soon as data collection for this study is complete, contact information will be destroyed and the survey data will be deidentified so that no one could tell who took part in this survey or how they responded. If there is a breach of confidentiality due to a data breach and for some reason someone found out you were part of this study or how you answered the survey, you might experience embarrassment from someone else knowing about your communication and leadership skills. The information from this study will be used for research purposes only and will not be shared with anyone other than in anonymous, large group reporting for conference presentation or publication purposes.

### How will my information be protected?

Only the Investigators will have access to the information you provide. The only personally identifiable information collected will be your name and email address if you choose to provide it to receive a \$5 Amazon gift card for participating. Your identity will be protected by removing any possible identifiers from your survey data as soon as data collection of surveys is complete and storing that information separately.

Absolute confidentiality of data provided through the Internet cannot be guaranteed due to the limited protections of Internet access. Please be sure to close your browser when finished so no one will be able to see what you have been doing.

We plan to publish the results of this study. To protect your privacy, we will not include any information that could identify you. We will protect the confidentiality of the research data by destroying contact information as soon as data collection for this study is complete. Additionally, the survey data will be de-identified so that no one could tell who took part in this survey or how they responded. Other people may need to see the information we collect about you. Including people who work for UNC Charlotte, the study sponsor [if applicable], and other agencies as required by law or allowed by federal regulations.

How will my information be used after the study is over?

After this study is complete, identifiers will be removed from the data/information and the data/information could be used for future research studies or distributed to another investigator for future research studies without additional informed consent.

After this study is complete, study data may be shared with other researchers for use in other studies without asking for your consent again or as may be needed as part of publishing our results. The data we share will NOT include information that could identify you.

Will I receive an incentive for taking part in this study? Participants who complete the survey will receive a \$5 Amazon gift card if desired. These gift cards are considered taxable income. You will have the option to say no to the gift card.

If your total payments from UNC Charlotte are greater than \$600 in a calendar year, this information will be submitted to the Internal Revenue Service (IRB) for tax reporting purposes. By law, payments to subjects are considered taxable income.

What are my rights if I take part in this study?

It is up to you to decide to be in this research study. Participating in this study is voluntary. Even if you decide to be part of the study now, you may change your mind and stop at any time. You do not have to answer any questions you do not want to answer.

If you withdraw from the study at any time, your data/ information will be stored securely and treated in the same manner as those who did not withdraw. As soon as data collection for this study is complete, the contact information will be destroyed and the survey data will be de-identified so that no one could tell who took part in this survey or how they responded.

Who can answer my questions about this study and my rights as a participant? For questions about this research you may contact Kristin Coffey, Kristin.coffey@uncc.edu, 704-687-0691 and Dr. Linda Shanock, lshanock@uncc.edu, 704-687-1353

If you have questions about your rights as a research participant, or wish to obtain information, ask questions, or discuss any concerns about this study with someone other than the researcher(s), please contact the Office of Research Compliance at 704-687-1871 or uncc-irb@uncc.edu.

Consent to Participate

You may print a copy of this form. If you are 18 years of age or older, have read and understand the information provided, and freely consent to participate in the study, you may proceed to the survey.

\_\_I agree and wish to participate in this study

\_\_I do not wish to participate in this study

Q2. Thank you for taking a few minutes to complete this survey about leadership development! This survey should take about 15 minutes to complete. Click below to begin!

Q31. Are you a college student (either part-time or full-time)?

No

*Skip To: End of Survey If Are you a college student (either part-time or full-time)? = No* 

Q32. Are you 18 years old or older?

Yes

No

Skip To: End of Survey If Are you 18 years old or older? = No

Q33. Are you a student leader with your college's adventure education program? Yes, I am employed (paid) Yes, I volunteer (unpaid) Yes, I am both employed and volunteer No
If yes, continue to Q5. If no, skip to Q26

Q5. What types of adventure education programs do you facilitate?

Examples of team building programs include (but are not limited to): mobile team building, low ropes courses, and high ropes courses).

Examples of adventure trips include (but are not limited to): rock climbing, caving, whitewater rafting, backpacking, hiking, etc.

Team building Adventure trips Other

Yes

Q6. Generally, how often are adventure programs at your college (e.g. trips and/or team building programs) led by college students without direct supervision while in the field or facilitating?

All of the time Most of the time (half or more of programs) Some of the time (less than half) None of the time

Skip To: End of Survey If Generally, how often are programs (e.g. trips and/or team building programs) led by college stude... = None of the time

Q17. About how many semesters have you been a student leader for your college's adventure education program?

Q34. About how many field days do you have leading/ facilitating ADVENTURE TRIPS?

Q.38. About how many TEAM BUILDING programs/ groups have you facilitated?

Q19. About how many other leadership positions have you held prior to or at the same time as the one you hold with your college's adventure education program?

Q26. Do you currently have a leadership position? It could be with a campus organization, at work, for a volunteer organization, or elsewhere.

Yes No Unsure

Q25 Have you ever been in a leadership position in the past?

Yes No Unsure

Q9. Instructions: Here are some statements about how people interact with other people. For each statement, select the response that best reflects YOUR communication with others. Be honest in your responses and reflect on your communication behavior very carefully.

1-	2-	3-	4-	5-
Almost	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Almost
never				always

I allow friends to see who I really			
am.			
I can put myself in others' shoes			
I am comfortable in social situations			
When I've been wronged, I confront			
the person who wronged me			
My conversations are pretty one-			
sided*			
My conversations are characterized			
by smooth shifts from one topic to			
the next			
My friends can tell when I'm happy			
or sad			
My communication is usually			
descriptive, not evaluative			
My friends truly believe that I care			
about them			
I accomplish my communication			
goals.			

\* Reverse scored item

Q12 *Instructions*: Here are some statements about what people may observe about you as a leader. For each statement, select the response that best matches your level of agreement with the statements from 1 (very strongly) disagree to 7 (very strongly agree).

- 1. My followers would agree that I excel at getting the best out of people.\*
- 2. My followers would say that I am a good mentor.\*\*
- 3. My followers would say that I bring positive energy to work\*
- 4. Others seem to easily follow my lead.\*
- 5. My followers would tell you that I check in with them on almost a daily basis to find out how they are feeling and thinking.\*\*
- 6. Each of my followers would say that I know them personally.\*\*
- 7. One of my primary goals as a leader is to support the continuous learning of my followers.\*\*
- 8. My followers would tell you that I care about their needs and concerns.\*\*
- 9. I have found that motivating people to do their best is the primary key to success.\*
- 10. My followers would say that I have an extremely high level of motivation.\*
- 11. My followers would say that I am very attentive to their individual needs and concerns.\*\*
- 12. I am quite effective in boosting my followers' self-confidence.\*

- 13. I spend a great deal of time getting to know my followers individually.\*\*
- 14. My followers have told me that my enthusiasm is infectious.\*
- 15. My followers have often told me that they appreciate my attention to their feelings and concerns.\*\*
- 16. Please select 3 for this item.
- 17. Inspiring others has always come easily to me.\*
- 18. I work hard to provide my followers with an inspirational vision for our group.\*
- 19. My followers would report that I have cheered them up when they were in a bad mood.\*
- 20. Other people look to me for direction.\*
- 21. My followers would say that I create a supportive environment.\*\*
- 22. My followers marvel at my energy.\*

\*Inspirational motivation

\*\*Individual consideration

Q16. *Instructions*: Here are some statements about how people may behave while part of a group. Think about how you have interacted with groups you have been a part of in the past. For each statement, select the response that best matches your level of agreement with the statements from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree).

- 1. I take initiative in completing group tasks.\*
- 2. I often take responsibility without being asked.\*
- 3. I am good at making decisions.\*
- 4. I make decisions in a timely manner.\*
- 5. I am patient with others.\*
- 6. I place emphasis on group goals above personal goals.\*\*
- 7. I maintain a positive attitude in adverse conditions.\*\*
- 8. I can manage conflict that occurs between group members and me.\*\*

### \*Leadership

\*\*Small group behavior

Q24. *Instructions*: The following information will be used to determine if the sample for this study is representative of college students more generally. This information will be kept confidential.

How old are you? What is your sex? What is your ethnicity? Are there any other comments you would like to share with us? Q22. If you would like to receive a \$5 Starbucks e-gift card for participating in this study, please enter the information requested below. Please note that this information will only be used for distributing the e-gift card. If you do not want to receive the gift card or if you received a gift card in person, you may leave the boxes blank.

Q23. First Name

Q.24. Last Name

Q25. Email address

Q26. FOR UNC CHARLOTTE STUDENTS ONLY: Your FortyNiner ID number (i.e. your 800- or 801- number)